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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
20 North Street

	Historic Name:
John & Sally Platts House

	Uses:
Present: 
single residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  1833

	Source:  deeds

	Style/Form:   
Greek Revival

	Architect/Builder:  
John M. Noyes, probable builder of 
ca. 1870 alterations

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
stone

	Wall/Trim:  
vinyl clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


Barns (2)

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Converted to two-family use, ca. 1870


Front bay windows added, ca. 1870

Side entrances & rear ell added


Vinyl clapboards added


Window sash replaced



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:   0.60 acre

	Setting:   This house is sited on the northwest side of North Street three lots north of the village center. The lot features mature trees. The area is a mix of residential and institutional uses.


 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION   

The John & Sally Platts House is a two-story wood frame dwelling located on the westerly side of North Street just north of Main Street.  Built in 1833 as a single-family dwelling, it was divided and altered ca. 1870 to house two families.  Originally, it likely resembled its neighbors with their two-story forms and five-bay front facades with center entrances.  Around 1870 the two-story bay windows were added and a center entrance probably was removed in favor of separate entrances added on the gable ends.  A two-story bay window also was added to the southerly gable end along with a porch with chamfered pillars reflecting the period.  A hood was mounted on brackets to distinguish the entrance on the northerly side.  The later addition of eaves and box gutters, as well as the overlay of vinyl siding to the house has obliterated the original roof ornamentation.  The work probably was done by carpenter John M. Noyes, who occupied one half of the altered house. 
A one-story rear ell aligned with the southerly end of the house appears to be an original feature of the house, but a second one-story ell offset from the northwest corner of the house is an addition probably associated with the ca. 1870 division.  The area left between the two ells has since been roofed over to expand interior space.  Two domestic barns are located behind each ell for separate household use.  Both appear on the 1887 birdseye view of the village, although a cross wing addition on the rear of the northerly barn was made since the view was created.  
The large lot extends from North Street back to a wetland in the center of the block bounded by North, Prospect and West Main streets.  The house is centered on its frontage and set back behind a small yard.  The areas on the sides of the house have been paved for vehicle access to the barns and parking.  The rear of the lot behind the barns is now wooded.
The John & Sally Platts House, built 1833, is an example of a Greek Revival-style single-family residence extensively altered in the late 19th-century for use by two families.  Later vinyl siding and window replacement has further diminished its architectural distinction.  Retaining its integrity of form and setting, the building is a contributing component of the village district.     
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    
In 1833, shoe manufacturer Joseph Little sold John Platts, a Boxford native and also a shoe manufacturer, a lot abutting his own house lot on North Street, and by October of that year Platts had built this double house on the lot. In a deed to Sally Noyes on 7 October that year, Platts transferred to her “the southerly part or half of my new dwelling house in said Rowley where I have now moved in and dwell,” the land beneath that half, and one-seventh of an acre adjoining it on the south side. The deed stipulated that, in the event Platts and Noyes should marry, she would never receive more than a third of all his real estate should he predecease her. In fact, Platts and Noyes, a native of Atkinson, New Hampshire, had already filed their intention to marry with the Rowley town clerk in September 1833 and were married, presumably, soon after the October deed was made.
 
Born in 1774, John Platts was the son of John and Mary Platts. Sally Noyes was his fourth wife. In 1797 in Rowley Platts married Mary Palmer, and the couple had six children—Almira, Isaac Braman, Colman, John Lyman, Simeon Friend, and Luther—between 1800 and 1815. Mary Palmer Platts died in 1816 at the age of thirty-nine. Her son Luther was an infant when she died, and he was fostered to his mother’s Palmer relatives; at some point the General Court legally added the surname Palmer to his name, and by 1850 he was known as Luther P. Palmer.

In 1817 John Platts married Sarah Goodrich, who died the next year. In 1820 he took as his third wife Lydia Wildes of Rowley, who died in 1832, and in 1833 he married Sally Noyes, the daughter of Humphrey and Judith Noyes. Platts is shown in the 1840 Georgetown census one door away from Moses Carter, who lived with Joseph Little lived at 14 North Street, and the 1850 census enumerates him just before the Carter/Little household. Platts is then shown as a seventy-five-year-old shoe manufacturer with $2700 in real property; his wife Sally, shown here as Sarah, was sixty years old.
John Platts died in May 1856, and in 1860 his widow is shown just after the Carter/Little household with $2000 in real estate and $300 in personal property. Sharing the household with her was her son Luther P. Palmer, a bootmaker, and his second wife Catherine P. Hardy Palmer.
 Sally (sometimes shown as Sarah) Platts’s occupation is shown here as running a boardinghouse, which may have been at another location as no other occupants are shown at 20 North Street. The 1870 census shows Sally Platts as eighty years old and owning $3000 in real estate, and she continued to share the house with her son Luther and his wife. On the other side of the house in 1870 was the family of her nephew John M. Noyes, who had retired to Georgetown from Deer Island in Maine; his father, Joseph Noyes, was Sally Noyes Platts’s older brother.

The 1870 census shows John M. Noyes as a house carpenter with $2500 in real property living with his wife Emily Somes Noyes, whom he married in 1834, and two of their seven children—Lucy, born in 1835, and Harriet, born in 1843; both then worked as dressmakers. A 1904 family history recounts John M. Noyes’s career:

He learned the trade of house and ship builder before he reached his majority, and at the age of eighteen years was established at Castine, but at twenty-one he, in company with a friend, built a rough boat and embarked with their two chests of tools for Mt. Desert, then an unbroken wilderness, containing but few inhabitants. He did much towards developing the resources of Mt. Desert, and built bridges, laid out the road, secured postal conveniences, built wharves, encouraged steamboat conveniences, and developed the fisheries. He built the first hotel at Bar Harbor.

The 1872 map of Georgetown attaches both the names “J. Noyes” and “Mrs. Platts” to the 20 North Street house.

In September 1872 Sally Noyes Platt died at the age of eighty-three, and in December of that year the heirs of John Platts deeded their interest in the south side of the house and a quarter-acre of underlying and adjacent land to Luther P. Palmer for $1500.
  By then Palmer was an auctioneer and he remained at this address until he died in March 1892. The 1880 census shows the John M. Noyes family next. At that time the youngest child, Henry R. Noyes, was living in the household and working as an upholsterer; his wife Elizabeth and son Henry F. were also living at 20 North Street along with Emily Noyes and Harriet Noyes, still a dressmaker.
Between 1882 and 1892 John M. Noyes, Emily Somes Noyes, and Luther Platts Palmer all died. The house at 20 North Street is labeled “Parsonage” on the 1884 map, though there is no indication that the Palmer and Noyes families ceased to own it. By 1900 the house was occupied, though not yet owned, by Henry Kimball Palmer, the son of John Hilton and Hannah Staniford Kimball Palmer of Georgetown. It is possible that John Hilton Palmer’s parents, John and Sarah Merrill Palmer, were the ones who served as foster parents to Luther Platts Palmer. In 1895 Henry K. Palmer was working as an expressman in Georgetown when he married Maude Alice Pingree, the daughter of Charles H. and Lucy S. Harris Pingree, who either then lived or soon would come to live at 14 North Street. By 1900 Palmer was working for the Georgetown, Rowley and Ipswich Street Railway, which had begun service between these towns in 1896. The 1900 census shows him as the railway company’s superintendent, though the 1901 directory shows Palmer as an electrician for the company.
By 1905 Henry K. Palmer had become a shoe shop leather cutter, and by 1914 he was working in one of Haverhill’s shoe factories but living at 20 North Street. In 1917 he became a deputy sheriff, a position he held until he retired. The 1920 census shows him at 20 North Street with his wife and daughter Katherine, a bank bookkeeper; the 1930 census shows him with $2000 in real estate at 20 North and Mary A. Palmer, his unmarried older sister, with $1800 in real estate at 18 North Street, probably the southern half of the house. In 1925 Bradford auto mechanic William C. Eisnor was boarding with Henry K. Palmer; born in Boston in 1892 to parents who had emigrated from Nova Scotia, William Cephas Eisnor married Henry and Maude Palmer’s daughter Katherine in 1924. The couple lived in Georgetown until 1927, when they moved to Bradford; Eisnor then worked for W. J. Smith Chevrolet Company in Haverhill, while Katherine Palmer Eisnor worked at Essex National Bank in the same city.
In 1950 20 North Street was deeded to Maude A. Palmer and her daughter Katherine P. Eisnor, the latter then living in Melrose.
 William Eisnor was an auto mechanic in Melrose until the war, when he got work at the Charlestown Navy Yard. By 1957 the couple was living at 20 North Street with their son, William H. Eisnor.  William C. Eisnor died in January 1970, and in November that year the executor of his will sold the 20 North Street property to Paul Muscavitz Jr.
 Six years later Muscavitz sold 20 North Street to John T. and Anne Marie Gillen, who owned it until 1997; in that year they deeded the property to 20 North Street Realty Trust. Trustee Leah Peicott deeded the property to herself and her husband Richard in 2009.
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20 North Street: view from NE (top) and SW (bottom)
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National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form

Check all that apply:

 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Individually eligible             FORMCHECKBOX 
   Eligible only in a historic district
 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Contributing to a potential historic district          FORMCHECKBOX 
  Potential historic district
Criteria:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A        FORMCHECKBOX 
    B        FORMCHECKBOX 
    C     FORMCHECKBOX 
    D

Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A      FORMCHECKBOX 
    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
    E      FORMCHECKBOX 
    F       FORMCHECKBOX 
    G

                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The John & Sally Platts House, built 1833, is an example of a Greek Revival-style single-family residence extensively altered in the late 19th-century for use by two families.  Later vinyl siding and window replacement has further diminished its architectural distinction.  Retaining its integrity of form and setting, the building is a contributing component of the village district.     
� John Platts to Sally Noyes, 7 October 1833, SED 274:241. In John Platts to Polly Noyes, 18 Sept 1833, SED 274:240, Noyes sold Platts 37 acres in “Rowley west parish,” later Georgetown, for $1100. Joseph Little to John Platts, 23 September 1833, SED 274:240 may be the transfer of the 20 North Street house lot, but the deed makes clear that Platts already owned land here.


� Luther P. Palmer married Martha L. Spofford, daughter of Eliphalet and Sarah S. Spofford or Rowley, in December 1838, and she is shown in his 1850 Georgetown household; she died in 1857 at  the age of forty-two.


� See Henry E. Noyes and Harriette E. Noyes, Genealogical Record of Some of the Noyes Descendants of James, Nicholas, and Peter Noyes, vol. 1, Descendants of Nicholas Noyes (Boston, MA, 1904), 420-21.


� Noyes and Noyes, Genealogical Record, 1:420.


� John L. Platts and Simon F. Platts, Dover, NH; Hervey Platts, Ithaca NY; Silena Bradstreet, Mary Spofford, Luther F. Carter and Stephen and Sarah P. Osgood; Charles R. and Mary Ann Titcomb, Newburyport; Charles C. Carter, Andover; Joel Hewes, Lynnfield; Edwin and Sarah G Carr, Chelsea; and Frank Carter, Bridgeport CT,  to Luther P. Palmer, 22 December 1873, SED 894:170. The deed states that the east half of the hosue was then owned by Polly Noyes, though she had died in September that year.


� Ednah M. Stone, Melrose, to Maude A. Palmer, Georgetown, and Katherine P. Eisnor, Melrose, 28 June 1950, SED 3764:151.


� Elmer W. Liebsch Jr., executor will of William C. Eisnor, to Paul Muscavitz Jr., 20 November 1970, SED 5728:45.


� Paul Muscavitz Jr. to John T. and Anne Marie Gillen, 22 November 1976, SED 6301:112; John T. and Anne Marie Gillen to Leah E. Peicott, trustee 20 North Street Realty Trust, 7 May 1997, SED 14095:187; Leah E. Peicott, trustees 20 North Street Realty Trust, to Leah E. and Richard A. Peicott, 31 March 2009, SED 28450:186. The property is conveyed in two parcels, still divided by the center line of the house.








Follow Massachusetts Historical Commission Survey Manual instructions for completing this form.

